

CODE OF ETHICAL CONDUCT

Revised Board of Retirement: November 3, 2021 and Approved: Board of Investments: November 17, 2021

300 N. Lake Ave., Pasadena, CA 91101 / PO Box 7060, Pasadena, CA 91109-7060 / www.lacera.com / 626/564-6000

December 2, 2021

To LACERA Board Trustees and Staff:

LACERA prides itself on conducting its business in a lawful and ethical manner. Our work and interactions are guided by laws, rules, regulations, and policies.

We are a mission driven organization rooted in its core values of *Professionalism*, *Respect*, *Open Communication*, *Fairness*, *Integrity*, *and Teamwork*. We know how important it is to draw on our shared values and behaviors to effectively produce, protect, and provide the promised benefits to our members and their beneficiaries.

As a public entity serving over 180,000 active members and retirees, it is imperative that we establish an organization-wide culture and accountability for ethics. No matter your role at LACERA, you each play a vital role in fostering the confidence of our members, plan sponsors, and other stakeholders in LACERA's institutional integrity and our standing as a well-managed public pension system. We must each demonstrate a commitment to building a strong ethical culture by exhibiting *honesty, integrity, trust, fairness, and duty* in connection with LACERA's business as a public pension fund.

LACERA's commitment to ethical standards is reflected in the attached Code of Ethical Conduct (Code). The Code demonstrates the way we will conduct our business each day. It outlines the standards of ethical conduct required of LACERA Board of trustees and staff. Please read the Code carefully and ask questions if something isn't clear.

By holding ourselves and each other accountable to our ethical standards, we deliver on our promise to build a strong ethical culture at LACERA.

Very truly yours,

Santos H. Kreimann Chief Executive Officer

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Purpose and Scope 5
II.	General Ethical Standards
III.	Prohibited Transactions 9
IV.	Fiduciary Duties11
A.	Fiduciary Duties of Board Trustees11
В.	Fiduciary Duties of LACERA, and Staff's Role12
C.	Fiduciary Duties of Certain Vendors
V.	Conflicts of Interest
A.	Form 700 Statement of Economic Interests
В.	Gifts, Honoraria, Travel & Loans14
C.	Incompatible Activities/Incompatible Offices
D.	Contracts
E.	Investments
F.	Disclosure and Recusal
G.	Conflicts of Interest by Vendors16
VI.	Employment of Related and Unrelated Persons
VII.	Contracting and Vendor Relationships
VIII.	Use of LACERA Position, Resources, and Information
IX.	Personal Conduct and Communication22
х.	Political Activities
XI.	Leaving LACERA24
A.	Prospective Employment24
В.	Limitations on Subsequent Activities24
XII.	Reporting25
XIII.	Enforcement
XIV.	Training27
XV.	Resources
A.	LACERA's Legal Office28
В.	LACERA's Internal Audit Division/Ethics Hotline28
c.	LACERA's Conflict of Interest Code28
D.	California Constitution 28

	E.	CERL	28
	F.	PEPRA	29
	G.	California Government Code Section 1090 et seq	29
	н.	California Government Code Section 3201 et seq	29
	ı.	The Brown Act	29
	J.	Other California Statutes	29
	K.	Fair Political Practices Commission	29
	L.	California Attorney General Conflict of Interest Guide	.30
	M.	Los Angeles County Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk	.30
	N.	Los Angeles County Fraud Hotline	.30
X	VI.	Review of Code	31

APPENDIX A – SUMMARY OF GIFT LIMITATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS

I. Purpose and Scope

The Los Angeles County Employees Retirement Association (LACERA) is a public pension plan organized under the County Employees Retirement Law of 1937 (CERL) (Cal. Gov't Code §§ 31450 et seq.) and the California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA) (Cal. Gov't Code §§ 7522 et seq.). The management and administration of LACERA are vested in the Board of Retirement. All investments of LACERA are the responsibility of the Board of Investments.

The Trustees of the LACERA Boards are mindful of the positions of trust and confidence they hold. The Boards adopt this Code of Ethical Conduct to define standards of ethical conduct required of LACERA Board Trustees and staff. The purpose of the Code is to ensure the proper administration of LACERA and to foster public confidence in LACERA's institutional integrity as a well-managed public pension system.

"Ethics" and "ethical conduct" are defined for purposes of this Code as conduct that complies with principles of honesty, integrity, trust, fairness, and duty in connection with LACERA's business as a public pension fund. This Code looks to three sources for determination of ethical standards:

- First, laws and regulations applicable to LACERA and its business, Board Trustees, and staff, including the California Constitution, CERL, the Political Reform Act and the regulations adopted thereunder, the Ralph M. Brown Act, and other statutes, regulations, and case law.
- Second, best practices of ethical conduct. Best practices are drawn from ethical codes and practices of other public pension systems in California and elsewhere, professional associations, and similar sources.
- Third, LACERA's Mission, Values, and Vision, historical LACERA practices, and judgment as to the moral principles and behavior that LACERA as an organization strives to follow.

This Code provides ethical standards for LACERA Board Trustees and staff. The Code provides specific guidance for common situations raising ethical issues. However, the Code does not specifically address every issue that Board Trustees and staff will encounter. As to those other situations, the Code should be used and followed as a reference for standards of conduct and the basis for evaluation of facts and circumstances. The Code requires that additional information be requested when a user is unsure as to how the Code should be interpreted or when a user encounters an ethical issue not covered in the Code.

This Code is important:

- To ensure legal compliance with ethics laws and regulations.
- To further best ethical business practices.

- To establish an organization-wide culture and accountability for ethics.
- To foster trust, credibility, and positive relationships between LACERA and all
 parties necessary for the effective performance of LACERA's Mission to produce,
 protect and provide the promised benefits. These parties include others inside
 the organization, members, the plan sponsor and other participating employers,
 vendors, the public, and all others with whom LACERA may deal.
- To further LACERA's **Values** and **Vision**, which incorporate ethics, honesty, integrity, fairness, and trust.
- To establish common ethical standards followed by everyone at LACERA, instead
 of leaving ethics to unguided and possibly inconsistent personal judgment and
 interpretation.
- To mitigate the legal and business risks associated with ethical issues.
- To further the organization's business goals and objectives.
- To confirm the process for reporting or raising ethical concerns or questions.
- To identify resources for additional information concerning ethics and the applicable laws and regulations.

The Code shall not be construed as the sole source of ethics laws and regulations which must be observed by LACERA Board Trustees and staff. Nothing in this Code shall exempt any person from any other applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation. The standards of ethical conduct in this Code are in addition to any such other laws and regulations.

II. General Ethical Standards

This Code addresses specific ethical requirements in subsequent sections. The application of those specific requirements is summarized in this Section II as General Ethical Standards.

The following General Ethical Standards apply to LACERA Board Trustees and staff:

- Recognize and be accountable for all fiduciary responsibilities.
- Comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including those listed in Section I and elsewhere in this Code or which may be determined to be applicable in individual circumstances.
- Further the interests of transparency in the conduct of the public's business as described in the Ralph M. Brown Act and Public Records Act.
- Conduct all LACERA business in a fair manner and be honest in all business dealings.
- Strive to provide the highest quality of performance and counsel.
- Avoid any activity which, based on available information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances, constitutes an actual conflict of interest or which could be perceived or interpreted as a conflict of interest by others.
- Avoid exerting improper influence or being improperly influenced, and the appearance of improper influence or being improperly influenced.
- Exercise prudence and integrity in the management of funds.
- Report to an appropriate person actions of themselves or other persons or entities
 of which they become aware or suspect based on available information and
 reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances which may
 constitute violations of this Code of Ethical Conduct
- Be responsible for maintaining professional competence.
- Be respectful, professional, and courteous to all LACERA Board Trustees and staff, LACERA members, and all persons and entities with which LACERA does business or may otherwise interact.
- Maintain the confidentiality of all plan member information and all other confidential
 or privileged information so designated, including but not limited to information
 provided for or related to closed sessions of the Boards, which is received from or
 created or maintained by LACERA.

- To the extent not otherwise covered by the preceding bullets, conduct LACERA business in a manner consistent with:
 - o LACERA's **Mission** to produce, protect, and provide the promised benefits.
 - o LACERA's **Values** of *Professionalism*, *Respect*, *Open Communications*, *Fairness*, *Integrity*, *and Teamwork*.
 - o LACERA's **Vision** of *Excellence, Commitment, Trust, and Service*.
 - o All other applicable LACERA policies and procedures.
- Report or seek additional information from an appropriate person, when necessary, concerning ethical questions and issues.

III. Prohibited Transactions

The specific ethical requirements in subsequent sections of the Code define and describe certain prohibited conduct. Those prohibitions are summarized in this Section III as Prohibited Transactions.

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not engage in the following Prohibited Transactions:

- Utilizing or permitting others to use any property, resources, information, or opportunity of LACERA for personal gain.
- Engaging in any activity or failing to disclose any activity which, based on available
 information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances,
 constitutes an actual conflict of interest or which could be perceived or interpreted
 by others as a conflict of interest in the impartial and objective execution of duty to
 LACERA and its members.
- Falsifying or failing to record proper entries on any books or records of LACERA.
- Engaging in serial meetings or other conduct in violation of the Ralph M. Brown Act.
- Knowingly becoming a party to, or condoning, any illegal activity, including failing to report misconduct under this Code of themselves or other persons or entities.
- Authorizing payment of any amount on behalf of LACERA, or for any purpose, other than that explicitly disclosed in the original request for payment.
- Directly or indirectly seeking or accepting gifts, money, property, or other benefit that would influence or appear to influence the conduct of duties.
- Selling or providing goods or services to LACERA without disclosure.
- Utilizing the services of relatives or close personal associates for LACERA business without disclosing such relationship prior to execution and obtaining the appropriate approval.
- Engaging in activities involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.
- Engaging in outside employment with any providers of supplies or services to LACERA.
- Engaging in outside employment that would interfere with or hamper expected performance at LACERA.
- Engaging in other activities which compromise or appear to compromise one's

objectivity in the conduct of one's duties.

- Releasing to any third person plan member information or other confidential or privileged information so designated, including but not limited to member information and information provided for or related to closed sessions of the Boards protected by the Ralph M. Brown Act, which is received from or created or maintained by LACERA.
- Engaging in any other conduct prohibited by this Code of Ethical Conduct, Board or LACERA policy, or applicable laws and regulations.

IV. Fiduciary Duties

Trustees of LACERA's Board of Retirement and Board of Investments have fiduciary duties under the California Constitution and other law. LACERA as an organization also has fiduciary duties, which are implemented through LACERA's employees. Finally, certain of LACERA's vendors have a fiduciary duty to LACERA. This Section IV addresses all three categories of fiduciary duty. Board Trustees and staff shall report actions of which they become aware or suspect based on available information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances that may constitute a breach of fiduciary duty by any person or entity known to have such a duty.

A. Fiduciary Duties of Board Trustees

The California Constitution, Article XVI, Section 17, defines the fiduciary duties of the LACERA Boards, and the Board Trustees:

- The Boards "shall have plenary authority and fiduciary responsibility for investment of moneys and administration of the system."
- The Boards "shall have the sole and exclusive fiduciary responsibility over the assets of the system. The retirement board also has sole and exclusive responsibility to administer the system in a manner that will assure prompt delivery of benefits and related services to the participants and their beneficiaries. The assets of a public pension or retirement system are trust funds and shall be held for the exclusive purposes of providing benefits to participants in the pension or retirement system and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the system."
- The Trustees of the LACERA Boards "shall discharge their duties solely in the
 interest of, and for the exclusive purposes of providing benefits to, participants and
 their beneficiaries, minimizing employer contributions thereto, and defraying
 reasonable expenses of administering the system. A retirement board's duty to its
 participants and their beneficiaries shall take precedence over any other duty."
- The Trustees of the LACERA Boards "shall discharge their duties with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the prevailing circumstances that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with these matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise with a like character and like aims."
- As to the Board of Investments, the Trustees "shall diversify the investments of the system so as to minimize the risk of loss and to maximize the rate of return, unless under the circumstances it is clearly not prudent to do so."

These duties are also included in Section 31595 of CERL.

California case law provides that the Boards and the Board Trustees have a trust relationship with LACERA's members and beneficiaries. This trust relationship means

that the Boards and the Board Trustees have a fiduciary duty of prudence and loyalty to members and beneficiaries, which must be exercised in good faith. Further, the Boards and the Board Trustees have a duty to deal fairly with the members and beneficiaries, without the slightest misrepresentation, concealment, threat, or adverse pressure. *Hittle v. Santa Barbara County Employees Retirement Assn.* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 374.

To perform their fiduciary duties, each Trustee of the LACERA Boards shall diligently attend to the business of the Board on which he or she serves and shall not leave to the other Trustees control over the administration of the affairs of such Board.

B. Fiduciary Duties of LACERA, and Staff's Role

LACERA as an organization has the same fiduciary duties. LACERA staff supports the organization, the LACERA Boards, and Board Trustees in the fulfillment of their fiduciary duties as described in Section IV(A) of this Code. Accordingly, LACERA staff shall be familiar with the fiduciary duties described in Section IV(A) and conduct themselves at all times in a manner consistent with those duties. LACERA staff shall take no action inconsistent with those duties. LACERA staff shall avoid any conduct which is, or may be perceived to be, detrimental to LACERA and its members and beneficiaries. In dealing with members, LACERA staff shall be honest and forthright. Staff shall ensure that the information provided to members in connection with their rights, questions, choices and decisions, concerns, and issues is complete and accurate.

C. Fiduciary Duties of Certain Vendors

Certain LACERA vendors have a fiduciary duty to the organization under applicable law or under the terms of a contract with LACERA. LACERA shall monitor those vendors that owe a fiduciary duty to ensure that the vendors comply with that duty. Staff shall ensure that the contract of any vendor with a fiduciary duty includes a provision confirming that duty.

V. Conflicts of Interest

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall avoid conflicts of interest, including the appearance of conflicts of interest, in all aspects of their work for LACERA and shall comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to conflicts.

A. Form 700 Statement of Economic Interests

Public officials, including LACERA Board Trustees and certain staff, who make or influence governmental decisions are required to submit Form 700 Statements of Economic Interests. Form 700s are an important tool in the identification of actual or potential conflicts of interest by LACERA Board Trustees and staff. Form 700s are public documents. LACERA Board Trustees and designated staff, as generally described below, shall file Form 700s when and as required by applicable law and regulations, which are generally summarized here. Additional information can be obtained from LACERA's Legal Office and from Fair Political Practices Commission publications.

Pursuant to California's Political Reform Act, LACERA's Boards have adopted, and the County of Los Angeles Board of Supervisors has approved as code reviewing authority, a Conflict of Interest Code that requires the filing of a Form 700 by positions "which involve the making or participation in the making of decisions which may foreseeably have a material effect on any financial interest," except positions which manage public investments. Cal. Gov't Code § 87302(a). Persons, including Trustees of the Board of Retirement and identified staff, who file under an agency-adopted Conflict of Interest Code are referred to as "Code Filers." LACERA's Conflict of Interest Code sets forth the positions of all Code Filers and describes the specific economic interest Disclosure Categories that apply to each position.

There is also a separate Conflict of Interest Code for staff who serve as officers or hold other positions in LACERA's wholly-owned title holding entities.

The LACERA and title holding entity Conflict of Interest Codes are subject to biennial review.

Separate provisions of the Political Reform Act require positions managing public investments to file a Form 700. Cal. Gov't Code § 87200. Persons who file under Section 87200, including Trustees of the Board of Investments, the Los Angeles County Treasurer and Tax Collector as an ex officio member of both Boards, and identified staff, are referred to as "87200 Filers." 87200 Filers are required to disclose investments, interests in real property, income (including gifts, loans, and travel payments), and business positions as described in Form 700 and the Political Reform Act. While 87200 Filers are not subject to LACERA's Conflict of Interest Codes, they are listed as a matter of information in the Appendix to LACERA's Code.

Form 700s shall be filed, both by Code Filers and 87200 Filers, upon assuming an applicable position, annually thereafter, and on leaving an applicable position. Certain Board Trustees and staff are Code Filers and 87200 Filers in different capacities and may

complete a combined Form 700. Form 700s shall be filled out by all required filers in a timely, accurate, and thorough and complete manner.

B. Gifts, Honoraria, Travel & Loans

The Political Reform Act, and Regulations promulgated thereunder by the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC), impose limitations on gifts, honoraria, travel, and loans. The legal rules associated with gifts, honoraria, travel, and loans are lengthy and detailed. Additional information can be obtained from LACERA's Legal Office and from FPPC publications. A summary of the general standards with respect to these matters is as follows:

Gifts. LACERA Board of Retirement Trustees and staff who are Code Filers are prohibited from receiving gifts totaling more than the legally established gift limit from any single source in a calendar year if receipts of gifts from that source are required to be disclosed on Form 700 by LACERA's Conflict of Interest Code. LACERA Board of Investments Trustees and staff who are 87200 Filers may not accept gifts totaling more than the legally established limit from any single source in a calendar year. Even if a gift is not subject to Form 700 reporting or the gift limit, a gift may still create a conflict of interest; therefore, LACERA requires Board Trustees and all staff shall make disclosure to the Legal Office of all gifts from a single source with a combined total equal to or greater than \$50 in a calendar year from any individual or entity. Gifts to family members are included in the gift rules under certain circumstances. There are also exceptions to the gift rules for certain gifts; questions should be addressed to LACERA's Legal Office or the FPPC. The gift limit is adjusted biennially. The gift limit for 2021-2022 is \$520; the limit for any date after December 31, 2022 should be confirmed with the LACERA Legal Office or the FPPC. Gifts from a single source with a combined total less than \$50 in a calendar year currently are not reportable under FPPC law and regulations; gifts equal to or in excess of this limit are subject to reporting on Form 700, subject to the requirements and limitations described above. A more detailed SUMMARY OF GIFT LIMITATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS is attached as Appendix A.

Honoraria. LACERA Board of Retirement Trustees and staff who are Code Filers are prohibited from receiving honoraria from any source in consideration for any speech, article published, or attendance at any public or private conference, convention, meeting, social event, meal, or like gathering, if receipt of gifts from that source is required to be disclosed on Form 700 by LACERA's Conflict of Interest Code. LACERA Board of Investments Trustees and staff who are 87200 Filers may not accept any honoraria payments. There are certain exceptions to the honoraria rules; questions should be addressed to LACERA's Legal Office or the FPPC. Even if an honorarium is not subject to disclosure, Board Trustees and staff shall make disclosure to the Legal Office of such a payment from any individual or entity as to which LACERA will take any action. Honoraria include money, advances, reimbursements, and gifts of any other type that have more than nominal value.

<u>Travel.</u> Payments or reimbursement for travel are subject to the reporting requirements for gifts and income. If a travel payment is a gift, it is subject to the gift limit. A travel payment can also be considered an honorarium. Recusal may be required from any decision that will have a materially foreseeable financial effect on the source of a travel payment. There are exceptions to the travel rules; additional information can be obtained from LACERA's Legal Office or the FPPC.

Loans. 87200 Filers and elected Trustees of the Boards may not receive a personal loan that exceeds \$250 at any given time from an officer, employee, member, or consultant of LACERA or from any individual or entity that has a contract with LACERA. Ordinary retail loans and credit card transactions are excepted if they are offered on the same terms as generally available to the public. Elected Trustees of the Boards may not receive a loan of \$500 or more unless the loan is made in writing and clearly states the terms. There are other limitations and exceptions. A loan can constitute a gift under certain circumstances. Additional information is available from LACERA's Legal Office or the FPPC.

Board Trustees and staff are prohibited from soliciting any gift or any other consideration (including but not limited to money, service, gratuity, favor, entertainment, hospitality, loan, or other thing of value) from anyone who is doing or is seeking to do business of any kind with LACERA.

Board Trustees and staff are prohibited from accepting any gift from anyone who is doing or is seeking to do business of any kind with LACERA, when the gift is offered with a view toward securing favorable treatment in the awarding of any contract or agreement, or the making of any determination.

All rules relating to gifts, honoraria, travel, and loans are subject to change by the FPPC and other authority. Confirmation of the current rules can be obtained from LACERA's Legal Office or the FPPC.

C. Incompatible Activities/Incompatible Offices

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not engage in any employment, activity, or enterprise which is inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with, or inimical to his or her duties for or on behalf of LACERA, or with the duties, functions, or responsibilities of the position he or she occupies for LACERA. LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not perform any work, service, or counsel outside his or her responsibilities for LACERA where any part of his or her efforts will be subject to approval by the Boards or any employee of LACERA acting in that capacity. Cal. Gov't Code § 1126.

Board Trustees may not simultaneously hold two public offices where the functions of the offices are inconsistent or where there are conflicting interests. Cal. Gov't Code § 1199. The Los Angeles County Treasurer and Tax Collector holds that position as well as, under CERL, positions as a member of both the Board of Retirement and Board of Investments; these are not incompatible offices.

D. Contracts

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not be financially interested, directly or indirectly, in any contract made between LACERA and any individual or entity. The making of a contract includes any participation whatsoever, including the development of the need for the goods or services subject to the contract, issuance of a Request for Proposals (RFP), Request for Information (RFI), purchase order, or other solicitation or contracting process, evaluation of prospective contracting parties, selection of contracting parties, negotiation of the terms of the contract, and performance of the contract. Cal. Gov't Code § 1090 et seq.

E. Investments

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not have any personal interest, direct or indirect, in the making of any investment by LACERA, or in the gains or profits from any investment. Board Trustees and staff shall not, directly or indirectly, for themselves, or as an agent or partner of others, sell or provide any investment product to LACERA. Cal Gov't Code § 31528 (a), (b).

F. Disclosure and Recusal

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall disclose actual or potential conflict of interest, based on available information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances, or the appearance of an actual or potential conflict of interest, to the Chief Executive Officer and the Legal Office. Board Trustees and staff shall recuse themselves from involvement, consideration, and decision of a matter as to which the member has an actual conflict of interest. Recusal, or disqualification, is mandatory in certain circumstances, and discretionary in others. Board Trustees and staff should consider recusing themselves from consideration and decision of a matter as to which the member has a potential conflict of interest, or the appearance of an actual or potential conflict of interest. Board Trustees and staff shall consult with the Legal Office on any issue of recusal to discuss legal requirements that may apply to the particular circumstances, including whether recusal is required, whether recusal is an effective remedy for a conflict or potential conflict or whether other steps (up to and including disqualification of an individual or the Board) are necessary, and the way in which recusal, if possible, should be documented.

G. Conflicts of Interest by Vendors

LACERA's contracts shall include appropriate provisions to ensure that there are no conflicts of interest during the contracting process and to prevent conflicts of interest during the term of a contract. Board Trustees and staff should be alert to, and take other appropriate steps to prevent, actual or potential conflicts of interest of which they are aware or suspect based on available information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances by vendors in connection with the making or performance of contracts.

VI. Employment of Related and Unrelated Persons

To avoid nepotism or the appearance of nepotism, including the potential conflicts of interest and appearance of unfairness that may result, LACERA may not employ a person who is related to:

- A Board Trustee.
- The Chief Executive Officer.
- Persons serving as Deputy Chief Executive Officer, an Assistant Executive Officer, and any other employee reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer.
- A division manager.

This prohibition does not prevent the continued employment of a person who has already been working for LACERA in a full time and non-probationary capacity for thirty consecutive days prior to the date the Board Trustee or other individual described above acquired their position, or the related party became related. If a related party is retained under these circumstances, any actual or potential conflict of interest must still be corrected or sufficiently mitigated.

Related parties of other LACERA staff may be considered for employment by LACERA provided the applicant possesses all the qualifications for employment and that no preferential or unfair treatment is given based on any relationship. Such a related party may not be hired for or assigned to a position which would either:

- Create either a direct or indirect supervisor/subordinate relationship with a related party; or
- 2. Create either an actual conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest.

These criteria will also be considered when assigning, transferring, or promoting a staff member.

For purposes of this policy, "related parties" include:

- Spouse, parent or grandparent, child or grandchild, or sibling.
- First degree aunt, uncle, niece, nephew or cousin.
- Any "step" or "in-law" variant of the aforementioned relationships.
- Any member of the employee's household, whether or not related.

A LACERA Board Trustee or staff may not exercise individual discretionary authority to hire, evaluate or promote a related party under any circumstances, even when otherwise permitted under the standards above.

Board Trustees and staff may participate in the hiring process for any person, whether related or unrelated, only in accordance with established LACERA policies and procedures and shall not use or attempt to use influence outside of their individual hiring authority to cause the organization to hire any individual as a permanent or temporary LACERA employee. Board Trustees and staff may refer individuals interested in potential employment to LACERA's Human Resources.

VII. Contracting and Vendor Relationships

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not have contact with individuals or entities who are or should be reasonably known, based on available information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances, to be seeking engagement by LACERA in response to an RFP, RFI, purchase order, or other solicitation or contracting process, except in accordance with the published terms of the contracting process or except for, and limited to, contact necessary in connection with ongoing LACERA business with an individual or entity.

LACERA's RFPs, RFIs, and other contract solicitations shall include notice that a "quiet period" will be in place from the beginning of the contracting process until the selection of the successful party such that LACERA Board Trustees and staff, as well as potential contracting parties, are instructed that contact between Board Trustees and staff, on the one hand, and all potential contracting parties, on the other hand, shall not occur, except as provided in the preceding paragraph. As part of the contracting process, potential contracting parties shall be required to disclose potential conflicts of interest. LACERA staff shall provide quiet period lists to Board Trustees and staff in monthly Board of Retirement and Board of Investments meeting packets to assist in compliance.

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall participate in the contracting process only in accordance with established LACERA policies and procedures, and the published terms of the process. Board Trustees and staff shall not use or attempt to use influence, outside of their individual authority to cause the organization to enter into a contract with any individual or entity. Board Trustees and staff may refer individuals or entities for consideration for contracting to the appropriate LACERA staff responsible for the particular procurement or contract process.

VIII. Use of LACERA Position, Resources, and Information

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall not use their position or status with LACERA, LACERA property, funds, or other resources, or LACERA information, including plan member information, investment information, and other information concerning LACERA's business, for any personal purpose or gain, to secure any special privilege or exemption for themselves or any other individual or entity, or to assist or further the interests of any other individual or entity except in the normal course of LACERA's business. LACERA position, resources and information are to be exclusively used for LACERA business.

Board Trustees and staff shall maintain the confidentiality of plan member information. Cal. Gov't Code § 31532.

Disclosures of public LACERA information pursuant to the Public Records Act shall be handled by the Legal Office to ensure compliance with legal requirements, consistency, and proper recordkeeping.

Board Trustees and staff shall not disclose information acquired during a closed session of the Board unless the Board takes action to authorize disclosure. Cal. Gov't Code § 54963.

Board Trustees and staff shall not, directly or indirectly, for themselves, or as an agent or partner of others, borrow or use any of the funds or deposits of LACERA, except to make authorized current and necessary payments of the retirement system. Cal. Gov't Code § 31528(a).

IX. Personal Conduct and Communication

LACERA Board Trustees and staff shall adhere to the following standards in their personal conduct in performing their work on behalf of LACERA:

- Board Trustees and staff shall conduct themselves in accordance with this Code of Ethical Conduct.
- Board Trustees and staff shall abide all applicable laws and regulations.
- Board Trustees and staff shall act in a manner consistent with LACERA's Mission,
 Values, and Vision and shall follow all LACERA policies and procedures.
- Board Trustees and staff shall treat similarly situated individuals and entities in a similar way, absent good cause, in the conduct of LACERA's business and decision-making to ensure consistency and fairness.
- Board Trustees and staff shall communicate with, orally and in writing, and otherwise in all respects and at all times treat each other and all others in a respectful, professional, courteous, and civil manner.

A Board Trustee shall not correspond with a non-LACERA person or entity using LACERA letterhead unless the communication is authorized by the Board on which the member serves. Copies of all written communications from a Board Trustee to a current service provider, or person or entity related to a current service provider, relating to LACERA's business (other than purely personal or social correspondence) shall be provided to the Chief Executive Officer for subsequent distribution to all Trustees of the Board on which the Trustee serves. A copy of any written communication (other than purely personal or social correspondence, routine announcements, generally distributed newsletters, and the like) received by a Board Trustee from a current LACERA service provider, or person or entity related to a current service provider, shall be forwarded to the Chief Executive Officer for subsequent distribution to all Trustees of the Board on which the Trustee serves. For purposes of this paragraph, the terms "communication" and "written communication" include email and other forms of electronic communication as well as physical or hard copy forms of communication.

Board Trustees and staff shall be aware of the risk of communicating inaccurate information to plan members. Board Trustees and staff shall refrain from providing specific advice or counsel with respect to a plan member's rights, benefits, or obligations, except staff who are authorized to communicate with members on such matters. All others should refer plan member questions and concerns to the Chief Executive Officer or appropriate designee.

X. Political Activities

LACERA Board Trustees and staff may work on individual candidate and ballot campaigns, and attend campaign events, during their personal time. They may make campaign contributions using personal funds, subject to applicable campaign finance laws. No LACERA funds, property, technology, letterhead, logo, or other resources may be used by LACERA Board Trustees and staff to support personal political activities. LACERA Board Trustees and staff may not solicit political contributions to a candidate or ballot campaign from other Board Trustees and staff except (1) as part of a solicitation that is made to a significant segment of the public or (2) with respect to a ballot measure which would affect the rate of pay, hours of work, retirement, civil service, or other working conditions of LACERA employees; solicitations permitted by these two exceptions may only be made on personal time. LACERA Board Trustees and staff may not use their influence or make any threats or promises relating to potential or current employment, promotion, or compensation to secure a vote or financial or other support for a candidate or ballot campaign. Cal. Gov't Code §§ 3201 et seg. LACERA Board Trustees and staff may use their LACERA position to identify themselves when making an endorsement, provided that no statement may be made or action taken directly or indirectly indicating that the person represents LACERA in making the endorsement or that the endorsement is supported by or represents the position of LACERA, except when providing information authorized by the Boards. Nothing in this section is intended to impose any limitation on the personal political activities of LACERA Board Trustees and staff not permitted by California law.

XI. Leaving LACERA

A. Prospective Employment

LACERA Board Trustees and all staff shall not make, participate in making, or influence a decision by LACERA that directly relates to a nongovernmental prospective employer while negotiating or after reaching an employment agreement. The foregoing prohibition is triggered by an interview with a nongovernmental prospective employer or a nongovernmental prospective employer's agent, discussing an offer of employment with a nongovernmental prospective employer or a nongovernmental prospective employer's agent, or accepting an offer of employment. The foregoing prohibition does not apply if the Board Trustee or staff is legally required to make or participate in the making of the decision or if the decision affects the nongovernmental prospective employer in substantially the same way as it will affect a significant segment of the public generally. Cal. Gov't Code § 87407.

B. Limitations on Subsequent Activities

LACERA Board Trustees, the Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Assistant Executive Officers, persons next in line to Assistant Executive Officers, Chief Counsel, chief deputy legal officers, the Chief Investment Officer, and persons next in line to the Chief Investment Officer shall not, for two years after leaving that position, for compensation, act as agent or attorney for, or otherwise represent, any person except the County of Los Angeles, by making any formal or informal appearance before, or any oral or written communication to, LACERA, or any Board Trustee or employee of LACERA, for the purpose of influencing action by LACERA, including any action involving the awarding or issuance of a contract or sale or purchase of goods or property. Cal. Gov't Code § 31528(c).

In addition, under Government Code Section 87406.3, elected Trustees and the CEO shall not, for a period of one year after leaving that office or employment, act as agent or attorney for, or otherwise represent, for compensation, any other person, by making any formal or informal appearance before, or by making any oral or written communication to, LACERA, the Boards, or any committee of the Boards, or any LACERA officer or employee if the appearance or communication is made for the purpose of influencing action by LACERA involving the issuance, amendment, awarding, or revocation of a contract or the sale or purchase of goods or property.

XII. Reporting

Reporting of ethical issues with respect to their own conduct or the conduct of others of which they become aware or suspect based on available information and reasonable due diligence and inquiry under the circumstances is an important element of ensuring compliance with ethical requirements. Any such concerns by Board Trustees and staff about possible violations of this Code of Ethical Conduct or other ethical issues by themselves or others shall be reported to the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Audit Executive, or Chief Counsel. Board Trustees may also report concerns to their Board Chair. Staff may also report ethical issues to their immediate supervisor or division manager.

Concerns may be reported anonymously at the LACERA Ethics Hotline, which may be reached by telephone at (844) 794-9416 or online at lacera.ethicspoint.com.

XIII. Enforcement

LACERA's Chief Executive Officer is responsible for communicating, implementing and enforcing the Code of Ethical Conduct with respect to LACERA staff. The Board Chairs will enforce this Code with respect to Board Trustees and the Chief Executive Officer in accordance with Board administrative policies and applicable laws.

Violations of any of the provisions of the Code by staff may result in disciplinary action as the situation may warrant, up to and including termination of employment. Violations by Board Trustees will be handled in accordance with Board Regulations, Bylaws, and policies and applicable law.

With respect to the Los Angeles County Treasurer and Tax Collector, application of this Code shall take into account their responsibilities in that position and Los Angeles County policies applicable to the position, while recognizing that the Treasurer and Tax Collector has separate and independent fiduciary duties and legal obligations to LACERA and its members as described in this Code.

Questions on this matter should be referred to LACERA's Director of Human Resources, Internal Audit, or the Legal Office.

XIV. Training

LACERA management will provide training to new staff on this Code of Ethical Conduct as part of the new employee orientation. Management will provide training to existing staff on this Code at least every two years.

Management will include discussion of this Code in the training for new and incoming Board Trustees. The Code will be circulated to all Board Trustees at least every two years.

XV. Resources

Board Trustees and staff may refer to the following resources for additional information concerning this Code, questions concerning the application and interpretation of the Code to specific situations, and other issues concerning ethics and ethical conduct relevant to the performance of their duties and work for LACERA and its members and beneficiaries.

A. LACERA's Legal Office

The LACERA Legal Office is familiar with the laws and regulations that form the foundation for this Code. The Legal Office is experienced in applying those laws and regulations to specific situations. The Legal Office is available at any time to provide additional information concerning ethics questions and issues and provide written or oral advice or opinions with respect to specific situations. The Legal Office will respond to information about potential ethical issues, concerns, and violations in the LACERA organization and take appropriate action. Questions for the Legal Office should be directed to LACERA's Chief Counsel.

B. LACERA's Internal Audit Division/Ethics Hotline

LACERA's Internal Audit Division will respond to information concerning ethical issues, problems, and concerns regarding acts or omissions in connection with LACERA's operations and will take appropriate action. Questions for the Internal Audit Division should be directed to LACERA's Chief Audit Executive. The Internal Audit Division may also be contacted anonymously on the LACERA Ethics Hotline, which may be reached by telephone at (844) 794-9416 or online at lacera.ethicspoint.com.

C. LACERA's Conflict of Interest Code

Board Trustees and staff should refer to LACERA's current Conflict of Interest Code, which is available on LACERA's website, www.lacera.com, with respect to LACERA's requirements for the filing of Form 700 Statements of Economic Interests.

D. California Constitution

The California Constitution, Article XVI, Section 17, which sets forth the fiduciary duties of the Board and Board Trustees and the retirement system, is available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=CONS§ionNum=SEC.%2017.&article=XVI.

E. CERL

CERL, California Government Code §§ 31450 et seq., is available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=GOV&division=4.&title=3.&part=3.&chapter=3.&article=.

F. PEPRA

PEPRA, California Government Code §§ 7522 et seq., is available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&divisio n=7.&title=1.&part=&chapter=21.&article=4.

G. California Government Code Section 1090 et seq.

Conflict of interest rules relating to financial interest in the making of contracts, incompatible activities, and incompatible offices are contained in California Government Code Section 1090 et seq., which is available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=4.&title=1.&part=&chapter=1.&article=4.

H. California Government Code Section 3201 et seq.

Rules regarding political activities are contained in California Government Code Section 3201 et seq., which is available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&divisio_n=4.&title=1.&part=&chapter=9.5.&article=.

I. The Brown Act

The Brown Act may be found online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes displayText.xhtml?division=2.&chapter=9. &part=1.&lawCode=GOV&title=5.

J. Other California Statutes

Other California statutes relating to ethics issues are available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes.xhtml.

K. Fair Political Practices Commission

The California Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) has a large number of resources available concerning ethics issues under the Political Reform Act, FPPC Regulations, and related law. FPPC resources include:

- 1. Website: www.fppc.ca.gov/.
- 2. FPPC Publications available on the website:
 - a. Form 700 Statement of Economic Interests, and Form 700 Statement of Economic Interests Reference Pamphlet.
 - b. Limitations and Restrictions on Gifts, Honoraria, Travel and Loans: A Fact Sheet for Local Officials.

- c. Recognizing Conflicts of Interest: A Guide to the Conflict of Interest Rules of the Political Reform Act.
- d. Leaving Local Government Employment.
- e. Political Reform Act, including the full text of the law.
- f. FPPC Regulations, including the full text of the regulations.
- g. FPPC Letters and Opinions, including a searchable database of letter and opinions issued by the FPPC on ethical issues.
- 3. Campaign Rules/Finance. http://www.fppc.ca.gov/learn/campaign-rules.html.
- 4. Advice and Enforcement. The FPPC offers informal and formal advice on ethical issues and has procedures for making a complaint. Instructions for seeking advice or making a complaint are on the FPPC website.

L. California Attorney General Conflict of Interest Guide

The California Attorney General has published a Conflict of Interest Guide which contains information on a wide range of conflict of interest issues. Although the Guide was last updated in 2010, it remains a useful reference. The Guide is available online at https://oag.ca.gov/sites/all/files/agweb/pdfs/publications/coi.pdf.

M. Los Angeles County Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk

Information concerning Los Angeles County campaign rules and finance can be obtained at https://lavote.net/home/voting-elections/candidate-measure-information/campaign-finance-prop-b-reporting/campaign-disclosure-information.

N. Los Angeles County Fraud Hotline

Ethical concerns may be reported to the Los Angeles County Fraud Hotline, http://fraud.lacounty.gov/. The County Fraud Hotline will not generally investigate LACERA issues, but it will forward concerns to LACERA for response.

XVI. Review of Code

This Code shall be reviewed by the Board of Retirement and Board of Investments every three years. The Legal Office and Internal Audit shall monitor applicable laws, regulations, and best practices on an ongoing basis and shall request amendment of the Code when deemed necessary and appropriate. This Code may be amended by action of both Boards at any time.

APPENDIX A - SUMMARY OF GIFT LIMITATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS

WHAT IS A GIFT? A "gift" is any payment or other benefit that confers a personal benefit for which you do not provide payment or services of equal or greater value. Gifts are valued at fair market value as of the time the gift is received. Gifts include price discounts and rebates, unless generally available to the public. Gifts are income reportable on Form 700, Schedule D or E, subject to applicable rules and exceptions, including those below.

Examples of Gift Exceptions (no reporting/no dollar limit/no conflict of interest):

- 1. Items returned unused to the donor, or for which you reimburse the donor, within 30 days.
- 2. Items donated unused, within 30 days of receipt, to (a) a 501(c)(3) non-profit with which you do not hold a position, or (b) a government agency. You cannot claim a tax deduction.
- 3. Gifts from a family member (spouse or former spouse, child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, current or former parent-in-law, siblings-in-law, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, or first cousin, or the spouse of any such person), unless the family member is acting for another person.
- 4. Informational material provided to assist you in performing your official duties, including books, periodicals, videos, admission or discounts to informational conferences, demonstrations, or tours. This exception does NOT apply to meals, lodging, or (generally) transportation.
- 5. Tickets that you do not use and do not give to another person.
- 6. Two tickets, used by you and one guest, to attend a fundraiser for a campaign committee or candidate or a 501(c)(3) non-profit, provided the tickets are received from the organizer.
- 7. Items provided to LACERA and used by you for official business.
- 8. Travel payments made to LACERA and used to pay for your official business travel.

Examples of Limited Gift Exceptions:

- 1. Gifts commonly received from a dating partner, long-time personal friend, existing personal or business relationship unrelated to LACERA, or as an act of human compassion (no reporting or dollar limit, but these exceptions do not apply if person has LACERA business).
- 2. Wedding gifts received (not subject to dollar limit but reportable on Form 700 if meet gift threshold, with ½ of value reportable by each spouse; disqualification applies if donor has LACERA business).
- 3. Gifts commonly exchanged on holidays, birthdays, or similar occasions to the extent the gifts exchanged are not disproportionate in value.
- 4. Reciprocal exchanges with another individual (e.g., rotating lunches) so long as payments are not substantially disproportionate, payments are roughly equal over any calendar year, and no single payment is greater than the gift limit.
- 5. Travel payments for actual transportation, meals, and lodging the day of, day before, and day after you give a speech for a legitimate LACERA business purpose or on a state/national policy issue. Such payments are reportable on Form 700 and subject to conflict of interest disqualification.

GIFT LIMITS

Gifts with a combined total of under \$50 from a single source for the calendar year need not be disclosed. Gifts greater than the gift limit below in any 12-month period may require disqualification.

Board of Retirement and Staff Identified in LACERA Conflict of Interest Code ("Code Filers"):

For 2021-2022, you may not accept gifts from a single source with a combined total of more than \$520 for the calendar year if the Code requires you to report gifts from that source on your Form 700.

Board of Investments and Staff Identified in Appendix to the Conflict of Interest Code ("87200 Filers"):For 2021-2022, you may not accept gifts from ANY single source with a combined total of more than \$520 for the calendar year.

IMPORTANT NOTE: This document is only a summary of applicable law as of September 2021; additional rules apply. Any gift may create the appearance of a conflict of interest. Please contact the LACERA Legal Office with any questions. This summary will be updated as needed.